# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/4/2020 3:36 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98627-4

Court of Appeals No. 78897-3-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SPOKEO, INC.,

Petitioner,

and

WHITEPAGES, INC.,

Respondent.

### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C.
Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278
Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSBA 33099
241 Madison Avenue North
Bainbridge Island, WA 98110
(206) 780-5033
ken@appeal-law.com
shelby@appeal-law.com
Attorneys for Petitioner

### **

### INTRODUCTION

Spokeo, Inc. and 17 other companies entered into advertising contracts with Whitepages, Inc. All was going well – and the parties here were making millions of dollars together – when Whitepages surreptitiously exploited the confidential information it obtained under the advertising contracts to create a competing product – a secret scheme using codenames like "Matador" and "Mariachi." When it had everything it needed, Whitepages suddenly and unexpectedly pulled the Marketplace out from under its partners, seriously injuring them.

The jury was instructed on RCW 19.86.093, a significant 2009 CPA statute that so far has evaded this Court's consideration. The jury found Whitepages violated the CPA, awarding damages. But the trial court later made its own findings and threw out the jury's verdict.

Until now, the appellate courts that have considered § .093 have properly followed its plain language. This Opinion undermines that language and the Legislature's intent. It also contradicts (a) existing appellate CPA decisions; and (b) controlling law on (i) when a trial court should alleviate a jury's confusion about otherwise correct jury instructions, and (ii) when a trial court should instruct a jury on anticipatory repudiation.

This Court should grant review of these significant conflicts.

### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- 1. Did the trial court erroneously grant judgment as a matter of law nullifying the jury's CPA Verdict in favor of Spokeo where the trial court accepted the jury's well-supported findings, which fully supported their Verdict, but then made its own findings?
- 2. Did the trial court erroneously fail to alleviate jury confusion by not answering two jury questions on negligent misrepresentation, where the questions indicated an erroneous view of the law and the jury told the trial court that votes depended on the answers?
- 3. Did the trial court erroneously decline to instruct the jury on anticipatory repudiation, where the defense had been raised on summary judgment and evidence at trial fully supported giving the instruction?
- 4. Did the trial court erroneously instruct the jury on spoliation?<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Opinion is wrong on spoliation – an important issue that this Court should review – but it does not independently justify review, so it is not briefed here. The issue was fully briefed in the Court of Appeals.

#### **FACTS RELEVANT TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

### A. Spokeo and Whitepages (and others) formed lucrative partnerships that worked well for years.

Spokeo is a "people search engine" founded in 2006. RP 222-25. Spokeo now has about 210 employees and helps over 18 million unique visitors to connect and to know who they are dealing with. RP 222-23, 457. Whitepages.com ("Whitepages") is a free online directory for locating people and businesses. RP 231, 2076-77.

Initially, Whitepages' revenue came from renting ad space on its website. RP 2077. In 2012, Whitepages developed "Marketplace," an auction system allowing "endemic partners" to bid for specific ad space on Whitepages.com at a cost-per-click price. RP 496-97, 1244-45, 2090. Beginning in early 2012, Spokeo advertised with Whitepages through Marketplace. RP 226, 2102; Ex 484. As with all 17 endemic partners, Whitepages and Spokeo entered an individual Marketplace Participation Agreement ("MPA") in March 2012. RP 226, 1045; Ex 484. The MPA incorporated the parties' prior mutual confidentiality agreement, purportedly protecting Spokeo's confidential information in Marketplace. RP 227-29; Exs 2, 484.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "Endemic" here means native. WEBSTER'S THIRD NEW INT'L DICTIONARY 748 (1993). Endemic partners' ads look native to the website – that is, they generally have the same "look and feel" as other content on a webpage; they do not obviously look like advertisements. *See* RP 497, 1018.

Spokeo viewed Whitepages as its "number one partner." RP 475. Whitepages assured Spokeo that it felt the same way. RP 240, 400, 475, 810. The parties worked closely, collaborating on Spokeo's ads and ad performance weekly, if not daily. RP 403. They met quarterly to go over Spokeo's accounts, discuss future plans, and address any product testing and new products. RP 749.

Whitepages was Spokeo's "second biggest source of revenue" behind Google, at 20%. RP 235-36. And Marketplace made Whitepages a lot of money: Spokeo alone spent \$7-\$8 million per year on Whitepages ads. RP 257, 492. But the partnership depended on confidentiality, the heart and soul of revenue production in this industry. RP 698. Relying on their existing confidentiality agreement, Spokeo shared quite a lot of confidential information with Whitepages, including (among other things) marketing strategy, price strategy, bidding history, and conversion information, each of which is extremely confidential. RP 254-55, 379-80, 395, 710, 1236, 1543, 1549, 1551-52.

### B. In 2015, Whitepages secretly formulated a plan to displace its partners.

In late 2014 and early 2015, for the first time ever, Whitepages' board began considering whether it should develop a

paid-subscription people-search service. RP 1098, 1643, 2137-38. In late 2014, Whitepages hired Geoffrey Arone as a senior product executive to work through some issues with Whitepages' business model. RP 601, 603, 1587-88. Arone always believed that the "optimal" approach was to replace Marketplace with a Whitepages product. RP 609-10, 620-21. Within months, Whitepages' consultant Arjun Kakkar came on as a fulltime employee, focusing on "Premium development." RP 486, 1586-87. Arone was soon dedicating all his time to the Premium project, along with one part-time and four other full-time employees. RP 1588, 2306-07. In April 2015, the board authorized developing the subscription product that became "Whitepages Premium." RP 502, 1586, 2139-43, 2577.

While Whitepages began live-testing Premium in September 2015, it directed employees not to tell its endemic partners about Premium, fearing they would stop participating in Marketplace. RP 565-66, 1257-58. Whitepages took increasing ad space over time, but used "geo-filtering" to hide the testing in states where endemic partners were located. RP 1266. By November 2015, Whitepages was taking 10-to-15 percent of the ad space to test Premium. RP 574. Whitepages coined the code words "Matador" and "Mariachi" to keep the project secret. RP 504-05.

# C. Whitepages exploited the advertising contracts with its partners to gather their confidential information and develop a competing product.

Whitepages exploited its advertising contracts to gather confidential information from its partners.<sup>3</sup> Whitepages planned to bring a substantial portion of the people-search industry into Marketplace, then test Premium against those customers until it could successfully take over the industry.<sup>4</sup> Once Whitepages had enough partners in Marketplace, it began aggressively developing Premium by replicating its partners' products and practices.<sup>5</sup> Whitepages expressly tasked Arone with replicating Spokeo's proprietary funnel.<sup>6</sup> In sum, Whitepages created its own competitive service using Spokeo's product information and research.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> RP 946 ("In all my experience, when I see that, it very clearly means one and only one thing, that confidential conversion information . . . was used to build the funnel that you would see on Whitepages Premium, and they only got that by having that marketplace data"); RP 954-55 (Whitepages was mining and conveying Marketplace data for purposes of developing Premium); Ex 321 ("We are trying to assess where Premium is vs. Endemic").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See, e.g., Ex 246 ("Having premium compete in the marketplace will help us find the optimal sales funnel during the worst part of the year"; "The point is to test our ability to take over all placements when we are ready to do so"); Ex 256 (Whitepages "3" tier" in November 2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Ex 249 ("Already improved funnel performance by >2x by copying best performing competitor funnels").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Ex 315 (assignment to create a "Spokeo Inspired Reverse Phone Funnel"); Ex 306 (sending Arone "all of the funnels").

Whitepages intended "100% replacement of endemic" partners as early as 2013. Ex 45. Communications throughout 2015 show Whitepages' unequivocal intent to "displace" its partners. Ex 246 (confirming "transition away from the marketplace"); Ex 181:

Spokeo (and its brethren) are the form of advertisers we intend to displace with our eCommerce solution ("Whitepages Premium") . . . . I want to emphasize that we DO NOT need Spokeo (or any of these companies) . . . . The paying user will now just be paying Whitepages . . . rather than Spokeo.

Of course, Spokeo told the jury that it would have never done business with Whitepages had it known of this scheme. RP 379-80.

As early as September 2015, however, Whitepages secretly knew that Spokeo "will want to shoot us as soon as we launch Premium." Ex 221. But Spokeo did not learn about Premium until December 2015, when Whitepages notified Spokeo it was taking 20% of the ad space to test Premium. RP 236, 240-41, 646, 809, 823-24; Ex 711. Whitepages still gave no indication it was ending Marketplace, assuring Spokeo it was committed to Marketplace and its "long-standing" partnership with Spokeo. RP 240, 400, 810. And yet on December 2, 2015, its CEO internally noted, "if we were really looking out for the endemics, we'd have given them the courtesy of notice earlier." Ex 287.

In January or February 2016, Whitepages took 50% of the ad space for Premium. RP 785-86; Ex 333. Spokeo then knew Whitepages had become a competitor. RP 879. Still, it had no idea Whitepages would soon end Marketplace. *Id*.

### D. On February 12, 2016, Whitepages terminated the Marketplace partnerships without notice.

Whitepages decided to reveal the end of Marketplace in early February 2016. RP 2219. Whitepages called Spokeo on Friday afternoon, February 12, stating it was completely terminating Marketplace, effective Monday. RP 247-48, 397-98. Spokeo immediately notified Whitepages it believed Whitepages had breached the parties' contract by terminating Marketplace without written notice. RP 250-51; Ex 346. Spokeo followed up with calls and letters. RP 402. No auctions occurred after February 12. RP 426.

#### REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW

E. The jury found that Whitepages violated the CPA, awarding Spokeo damages, but the trial judge threw out their verdict five months later.

Spokeo sued Whitepages on April 6, 2016, raising breach of contract, duty of good faith, the Consumer Protection Act (CPA), negligent misrepresentation, fraudulent inducement, and specific performance. CP 1-10. Whitepages answered and counterclaimed for breach of contract. CP 13-25.

Discovery was difficult due to Whitepages' repeated failures to produce. The trial lasted 14 days. RP 1-2991. The jury returned a verdict for Spokeo on the CPA (\$72,915) and for Whitepages on an interest calculation (\$18,003.06). CP 9356, 9358.

Five months later, the trial court nullified the jury's CPA Verdict. CP 12263-82. It then determined that Whitepages was the prevailing party, awarding it \$2,136,030.95 in costs and attorney fees. CP 12309.

Spokeo appealed (1) the trial court's CPA ruling taking away the jury's CPA award; (2) its failure to answer juror's questions regarding whether the elements stated in two independent negligent misrepresentation instructions all had to be proved for Spokeo to prevail – a question on which votes depended; (3) its failure to instruct the jury on anticipatory repudiation; and (4) its mishandling of Whitepages' spoliation of evidence. CP 12462-592.

The Court of Appeals affirmed. Crucially here, it disregarded the plain language of RCW 19.86.093(3), by which the Legislature intended to make public-interest impact much easier to prove.

A. The Opinion conflicts with the only opinion of this Court addressing RCW 19.86.093(3) – a significant 2009 CPA statute that has otherwise evaded this Court's review; conflicts with *Hangman Ridge*; undermines the plain language of § .093(3); and conflicts with other appellate court decisions. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) & (4).

The lynchpin of the Court of Appeals' decision is its determination that Spokeo did not prove the third element of a CPA cause of action: whether Whitepages' unfair and deceptive acts or practices affected the public interest. Op. at 4-6. The trial court ruled that Spokeo *did prove* the other CPA elements (*i.e.*, that Whitepages' acts were unfair and deceptive, occurred in trade or commerce, and proximately caused injury to Spokeo's business or property, to the tune of \$72,915). *See, e.g.*, BA 14 (citing CP 9641-46, 12770, 12277-78). Whitepages did not appeal those determinations, and the Court of Appeals did not set them aside.

On public interest, the jury was properly instructed on RCW 19.86.093(3) ("§ .093(3)"). CP 8983 (Jury Inst. 26, attached as App. B). That instruction was unchallenged on appeal. And the jury and the trial court both correctly found that Spokeo proved injury to others – which is all that is required to prove public interest under § .093(3) and Jury Inst. 26. *Compare* CP 12278 *with* App. B. Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals held that Whitepages' unfair and deceptive acts or

practices in the course of commerce that injured Spokeo and others' businesses did not affect the public interest. Op. at 4-6. Under controlling Washington law, that holding is impossible.

This decision conflicts with the only opinion of this Court to address § .093(3), Justice Madsen's concurrence (for three Justices) in *Klem v. Wash. Mut. Bank*, 176 Wn.2d 771, 804-05, 295 P.3d 1179 (2013).<sup>7</sup> As she noted there, the Legislature had "recently codified the requirement that the unfair act or practice be injurious to the public interest and specifically set out how this element may be satisfied." *Klem*, 176 Wn.2d at 804 (citing § .093):

a claimant may establish that the act or practice is injurious to the public interest because it:

. . .

(3)(a) Injured other persons; (b) had the capacity to injure other persons; or (c) has the capacity to injure other persons.

In light of the jury's finding, and the trial court's ruling, that Spokeo proved injury to other "endemic" partners, all three subparts of § .093(3) are met here.

But § .093(3) – which became effective in 2009 – has so far evaded this Court's review. As Justice Madsen noted, it represents

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Presumably because § .093 had not yet taken effect when the alleged CPA violation occurred in *Klem*, the lead opinion did not address it.

a significant easing of the requirement to prove public interest in the context of a so-called "private dispute" among numerous competing businesses. Despite this legislative easing of the public-interest test, the trial and appellate courts here imposed an additional requirement that the jury was not required to find. See, e.g., CP 12275 (injury "may (in context with other facts) support a finding of public-interest impact," but "such evidence, by itself, does not automatically establish" such injury). This is *contrary to* both the trial court's unchallenged CPA instructions and § .093(3).

The CPA is designed to discourage unfair competition – like Whitepages' unfair and deceptive acts in the course of its business – just as much as it is designed to discourage unfair or deceptive acts in consumer transactions. *See, e.g.*, RCW 19.86.020. This Court should accept review to address this significant issue.

Indeed, the appellate decision – like the trial court's decision – even conflicts with this Court's most important CPA decision, *Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co.*, 105 Wn.2d 778, 719 P.2d 531 (1986). To undermine the jury's verdict, the trial court purported to *make its own findings* on seven factors it culled from *Hangman Ridge* and § .093. CP 12275-78. But "whether the public has an interest in any given action *is to be* 

determined by the trier of fact from several factors, depending upon the context in which the alleged acts were committed." 105 Wn.2d at 789-90 (emphases added). Both the trial and appellate decisions conflict with *Hangman Ridge* in this regard.

While § .093(3) has so far evaded this Court's review, the Court of Appeals has addressed it. *Rhodes v. Rains*, 195 Wn. App. 235, 247, 381 P.3d 58 (2016) (finding public-interest impact under § .093(3) where alleged unfair and deceptive act was repeatable); *Rush v. Blackburn*, 190 Wn. App. 945, 967-68, 361 P.3d 217 (2015) (same).<sup>8</sup> In both of those cases, the same Division of the Court of Appeals applied the statute in a manner contrary to its approach here. This Court should grant review to resolve this conflict.<sup>9</sup>

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Section .093 has been cited in Court of Appeals decisions 17 times, only three of them published: *Rhodes*, *Rush*, and *Villegas v. Nationstar Mortg., LLC*, 8 Wn. App. 2d 876, 882, 444 P.3d 14, *rev. denied*, 194 Wn.2d 1006 (2019) (citing statue, but not applying it).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Division Two has also applied the plain language of § .093(3) in a manner consistent with Spokeo's analysis, and inconsistent with Division One's analysis here. *Wells Fargo Bank N.A. v. Gardner*, 2018 Wash. App. LEXIS 2108, at \*17 (Sep. 11, 2018) ("In addition, the failure to negotiate in good faith plainly has the capacity to injure other persons. For this reason, the Gardners' CPA claim also affects the public interest under RCW 19.86.093(3)") (unpublished opinion cited under GR 14.1).

# B. The Opinion conflicts with controlling appellate authority regarding answering jurors' questions, an important issue this Court should decide. RAP 13.4(b)(2) & (4).

The Court of Appeals has held that where, as here, "a jury's question to the court indicates an erroneous understanding of the applicable law, it is incumbent upon the trial court to issue a corrective instruction." *State v. Campbell*, 163 Wn. App. 394, 402, 260 P.3d 235 (2011). Here, the jury asked two *very* clear questions regarding the two negligent misrepresentation instructions:

Jury Instructions No. 30 and 32 both list elements Spokeo must prove for their claim of negligent misrepresentation. Is it necessary to find all of the elements in both Instructions are true to give a verdict for Spokeo on their negligent misrepresentation claim? Or is it sufficient to find all of the elements on only one of the Instructions to be true?

CP 9359 (attached in App. C). Its second request desperately noted that votes depended on obtaining an answer to their question:

In response to a previous question, you said we have all we need to determine the answer to [Special Verdict Form] 1(d)(1) [asking whether Whitepages made negligent misrepresentation(s) to Spokeo]; however, page 36 presents one set of criteria for negligent misrepresentation and page 38 presents another set (but with no instructions after the criteria about forming verdict, as is shown on page 36). We need clarification on whether one or both sets of criteria need to be satisfied in order for our verdict to be for Spokeo. Several of our votes depend on this, and we may not be able to reach an agreement without further clarification, for fear that we're not all even answering the same question.

App. C, CP 9369 (emphasis original). The trial court refused to answer either of these questions. The Court of Appeals affirmed.

But the law is quite clear that Spokeo did not have to prove all the elements in *both* instructions to prevail – either was sufficient – and no one has argued otherwise. *See*, *e.g.*, BA 34-35; Reply 19-21. The jury's questions to the court thus indicated "an erroneous understanding of the applicable law." *Campbell*, 163 Wn. App. at 402. It therefore was "incumbent upon the trial court to issue a corrective instruction." 163 Wn. App. at 402. It failed to do so. The appellate court should have reversed and remanded for trial.

But instead, it contradicted its correct holding in *Campbell*. Contrary to the Opinion, the *Campbell* jurors were "correctly instructed . . . as to the process by which each juror could arrive at an individual conclusion that the correct answer to the inquiry on a special verdict form was 'yes,' the process by which each juror could arrive at an individual conclusion that the correct answer to the inquiry was 'no,' and the process by which the jury could properly render a collective 'yes' answer." *Id.* at 397. But "the trial court <u>did not instruct the jurors</u> as to how the jury could properly return a collective answer of 'no'—that is, by either unanimously agreeing that the correct answer was 'no' or by failing to reach unanimous

agreement on the question." *Id.* (emphasis added). In short, just like these jurors, the *Campbell* jurors had *legally correct* instructions, but were nonetheless confused by them. *Id. Campbell* controls.

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