FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/6/2020 4:09 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 98627-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SPOKEO, INC.,

Petitioner,

vs.

WHITEPAGES, INC.,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Timothy G. Leyh, WSBA #14853 Tyler L. Farmer, WSBA #39912 Kristin E. Ballinger, WSBA #28253 HARRIGAN LEYH FARMER & THOMSEN LLP 999 Third Avenue, Suite 4400 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 623-1700

Attorneys for Whitepages, Inc.

I. INTRODUCTION

After a week of deliberations, the jury rejected Spokeo's \$27 million breach of contract claims and, in doing so, rejected the very factual claim Spokeo continues to emphasize on appeal (e.g., Pet. 1): that Whitepages breached the parties' agreement not to use the other's confidential information. The jury concluded that Whitepages had not used Spokeo's confidential information and owed no contractual duty to continue auctioning ad space on Whitepages' website or to refrain from developing a product that competed with those offered by its advertisers.

Nor (as a matter of law) did Whitepages violate the Consumer Protection Act (CPA). The trial court held that three independent bases justified judgment for Whitepages on that claim, and the Court of Appeals affirmed because, even assuming Spokeo proved every allegation it claimed, this contract dispute between two sophisticated businesses had no public interest impact. That conclusion applied settled Washington law, as did the court's affirmance of the trial court's decisions not to supplement the accurate jury instructions Spokeo originally proposed and to decline to give an anticipatory repudiation instruction that did not fit the facts.

Review is not warranted.

II. COUNTER-STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Whether the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial

court's decision to dismiss Spokeo's CPA claim, where Spokeo failed to present substantial evidence that Whitepages' actions were unfair, were deceptive, or impacted the public interest.

- 2. Whether the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's decision to not supplement instructions proposed by Spokeo for two, independent reasons: they were correct statements of the law and there is no evidence that the entire jury was confused by them.
- 3. Whether the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's decision to not provide an anticipatory repudiation instruction where no facts supported the instruction.

By not briefing the alleged spoliation issue, Spokeo concedes that nothing about Spokeo's claim¹ merits review by this Court. *See* RAP 13.7(b); *cf.* Pet. 2 & n.1.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The decision of the Court of Appeals contains a fair statement of the case (Op. 2-3).

IV. LEGAL AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT

A. As a Matter of Law, Whitepages Did Not Violate the CPA.

¹ Spokeo claimed that the trial court erred in instructing the jury that it *could* draw an adverse inference about evidence, arguing that the court should have instructed the jury that it *must* draw an adverse inference, despite such an instruction being contrary to law.

Spokeo claims that only public interest impact was at issue on appeal from the CR 50 decision (Pet. 10), but that is not true. The trial court correctly found² that three independent bases justified judgment for Whitepages: (1) Spokeo did not present substantial evidence that Whitepages' actions had any impact on the public interest; (2) as a matter of law, Whitepages' actions were neither deceptive nor unfair; and (3) Spokeo did not present substantial evidence that Whitepages actions were not for a legitimate business purpose. Whitepages defended the ruling on all three bases. Although the Court of Appeals addressed only the first, each independently justified judgment in favor of Whitepages.

The Court's inquiry is the same as the trial court's: for issues of fact (here, public interest impact and legitimate business purpose), the court reviews, de novo, whether "substantial evidence or reasonable inference[s]" sustain the verdict, meaning enough "to persuade a fairminded, rational person of the truth of the declared premise." *Wilcox v. Basehore*, 187 Wn.2d 772, 782, 389 P.3d 531 (2017) (citations omitted). For issues of law (here, whether the conduct is unfair or deceptive), review is de novo. *Sheikh v. Choe*, 156 Wn.2d 441, 448, 128 P.3d 574 (2006).

_

² In falsely implying that the trial court found substantial evidence of an unfair or deceptive act, Spokeo cites its own brief (CP 9641-46), the trial court stating it "assume[d] that the jury found" an unfair or deceptive act (CP 12270, mistyped by Spokeo as CP 12770), and pages of the order irrelevant to that issue (CP 12277-78).

1. Impact on a few sophisticated tech companies' interests is not a "public interest impact" under the CPA.

The CPA "shall not be construed to prohibit acts or practices which . . . are not injurious to the public interest." RCW 19.86.920. Thus, this Court has consistently held that the CPA was not intended "to provide an additional remedy for private wrongs which do not affect the public generally." *Lightfoot v. MacDonald*, 86 Wn.2d 331, 333, 544 P.2d 88 (1976). Rather, this provision "expresses a clear intent *to protect the general public.*" *Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co.*, 105 Wn.2d 778, 788, 719 P.2d 531 (1986) (emphasis added).

Although this element is one of fact, courts (including in *Lightfoot* and *Hangman Ridge*) routinely determine that the evidence of public interest impact is insufficient as a matter of law. That is why it is incorrect to claim the Court of Appeals decision here conflicts with *Hangman Ridge* (*see* Pet. 12-13); the Court directed judgment in favor of the defendant in *Hangman Ridge* because the public interest element was not met. This was so despite the "escrow closing agent-client" relationship because the plaintiffs "had a history of business experience," "were sole shareholders in a closely held corporation," "retained an attorney and an accountant on a regular basis," and "*are not representative of bargainers subject to exploitation and unable to protect themselves.*" 105 Wn.2d at 794

(emphasis added).

Nor did the 2009 enactment of RCW 19.86.093 change the analysis as Spokeo claims (Pet. 10-12). It provides that "a claimant may establish that the act or practice is injurious to the public interest because it ... [i]njured other persons," *id.*, 3 codifying the common law rule that one "factor" of evaluating whether public interest impact may be proven is whether "additional plaintiffs" may have been injured, *Stephens v. Omni Ins. Co.*, 138 Wn. App. 151, 177-78, 159 P.3d 10 (2007). That is important because it "show[s] how the practice *has the potential of affecting large numbers of people.*" *Id.* at 178 (emphasis added); *see also Hangman Ridge*, 105 Wn.2d at 790-91 (holding that factors to determine whether "the public has an interest in the subject matter" include, "Did defendant advertise to the public in general?"). That is, the public interest impact may be shown where there is a "likelihood" or "real or substantial".

.

³ The jury was instructed on this point (CP 8983), but Spokeo incorrectly argued to the jury in closing that "in order to affect the public interest, [Whitepages' conduct] only has to have impacted one other person" (RP 2903). This is an incorrect statement of the law because it directly conflicts with RCW 19.86.920 and misstates RCW 19.86.093.

The Court of Appeals rightly rejected Spokeo's now-implicit argument that how the trial court instructed the jury is relevant. (At the Court of Appeals, Spokeo devoted many pages to a flawed "law of the case" argument. It now says without explaining the relevance that an instruction was "unchallenged on appeal." Pet. 10.) It is not: the jury's verdict is subject to a legal determination that Spokeo failed to prove a CPA violation as a matter of law: "Judgment as a matter of law sought with a CR 50(a) motion is governed by the applicable substantive law, not the trial court's instructions to the jury." Washburn v. City of Federal Way, 178 Wn.2d 732, 749 n.5, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013) (citing Kim v. Dean, 133 Wn. App. 338, 349, 135 P.3d 978 (2006)).

potential that other people will be injured in the same way." Michael v. Mosquera-Lacy, 165 Wn.2d 595, 605, 200 P.3d 695 (2009) (emphasis added).

While RCW 19.86.093 codified the guidance for that determination ("a claimant may establish"), the holding of *Hangman Ridge* and the statutory language at RCW 19.86.920 remain unchanged: without proof that the CPA claim is for the "protect[ion of] the general public," it fails as a matter of law. *Hangman Ridge*, 105 Wn.2d at 788.

Justice Madsen's concurring opinion in *Klem* in no way conflicts with the Court of Appeals decision here (*cf.* Pet. 11-12). Justice Madsen described the amendment as "codif[ying] the requirement that the unfair act or practice be injurious to the public interest." *Klem v. Wash. Mut. Bank*, 176 Wn.2d 771, 804, 295 P.3d 1179 (2013) (Madsen, J., concurring). Nowhere did Justice Madsen suggest that the amendment "eas[ed] . . . the requirement to prove public interest in the context of a" private dispute amongst competitors as Spokeo says (Pet. 12). In fact, she was not interpreting the new statutory language at all. She was merely underscoring her argument that it was unnecessary to graft a public interest requirement onto a wholly separate determination—whether an act is "unfair"—as the majority had done. *Klem*, 176 Wn.2d at 805.

Nor does the Court of Appeals decision here conflict with Rush v.

Blackburn, 190 Wn. App. 945, 361 P.3d 217 (2015), Rhodes v. Rains, 195 Wn. App. 235, 381 P.3d 58 (2016), or the unpublished *Wells Fargo Bank* N.A. v. Gardner, 5 Wn. App. 2d 1011, 2018 WL 4334227 (2018). In each case, the challenged business practice impacted the general public because the defendants did business with the general public: in *Rush*, the court applied the *Hangman Ridge* factors to a defendant tow-truck operator who sold vehicles it towed while the owner was contesting the impound (190 Wn. App. at 967-72); in *Rhodes*, the court applied the *Hangman Ridge* factors to a defendant who "represented that she had 1,500 clients" (195 Wn. App. at 239) and concluded the factors were met where the accountant advertised "on the internet, directed at the public in general" and "targeted . . . an unsophisticated and vulnerable group" (id. at 248); and in Wells Fargo Bank, the court found a per se public interest impact and capacity to injury others where the defendant bank (whom the plaintiffs had not chosen as their lender) instituted foreclosure proceedings and then failed to negotiate in good faith as it was required to do (5 Wn. App. 2d at *6-7). Here, the only "impact" shown was to a small group of business competitors, not the general public.

As recognized by these and other cases after the 2009 amendment, it still is the function of the court to ensure that the public interest impact requirement of RCW 19.86.920 has been met, and, in doing so, to utilize

the *Hangman Ridge* factors.⁴ The court in *Stiegler v. Saldat*, No. C14-1309TSZ, 2015 WL 13686087 (W.D. Wash. Oct. 23, 2015), rejected precisely the argument Spokeo makes, holding that despite alleged injury to "more than 2000 individual persons," the language of RCW 19.86.093 ("injured other persons") "relate[s] to persons not already members of the two time-share entities." *Id.* at *3.

Spokeo claimed no injury (or potential for injury) to anyone other than (potential) injury to the six other advertisers actively participating in auctions when Whitepages stopped the auctions, none of whom sued. But even if Whitepages had a similar private dispute with a few other tech companies in a specialized field (a fact not evidenced at trial), that does not turn this case into one in which "the public has an interest." *Stephens*, 138 Wn. App. at 177. The evidence at trial established that the companies Spokeo presented as "victims" of Whitepages are sophisticated, multimillion dollar tech businesses. *E.g.*, Ex. 761; RP 2661. Just like Spokeo, their bargained-for contracts with Whitepages allowed competition, confirmed Whitepages' ownership of the information used to develop its

-

⁴ See Trujillo v. Nw. Tr. Servs., Inc., 183 Wn.2d 820, 835-36, 355 P.3d 1100 (2015); Bavand v. OneWest Bank, F.S.B., 176 Wn. App. 475, 506, 309 P.3d 636 (2013); see also Kforce Inc. v. Oxenhandler, No. C14-774MJP, 2015 WL 1880450, at *5 (W.D. Wash. Apr. 24, 2015) (Pechman, C.J.) ("conduct affecting a small portion (four firms) of a niche market (technology specialty staffing firms) does not harm a substantial portion of the general public, especially where the companies do not offer services to the public").

new product, and did not require that Whitepages auction them ad space, and their private dispute (if there was one) did not negatively impact the public *at all*.⁵

The Court of Appeals and the trial court properly concluded that the CPA claim failed for lack of evidence of public interest impact.

2. The court, not the jury, must decide whether the acts at issue are unfair or deceptive.

The trial court also concluded that Spokeo's failure to evidence an unfair or deceptive act justified judgment for Whitepages on the CPA claim. The Court of Appeals did not reach this issue, but the trial court's decision could have been independently affirmed on this basis.

Taking all evidence and inferences in Spokeo's favor, it proved, at most, that Whitepages (1) developed Whitepages Premium in part with information it learned from its advertisers but that the jury determined Whitepages owned and was contractually entitled to use; (2) actively kept the development of Premium secret from its advertisers as the jury found it was contractually entitled to do; and (3) chose to run no additional

Mortgage Co. v. Shannon, 167 Wn. App. 242, 274 P.3d 375 (2012), "conduct that is not directed at the public, but, rather, at a competitor, lacks the capacity to impact the public in general." *Id.* at 261.

⁵ Rather, the public *benefited* from Whitepages' development of Premium because Whitepages increased competition in the market for paid people searches. *See State v. Black*, 100 Wn.2d 793, 799, 676 P.2d 963 (1984) (CPA "enacted in 1961 to promote free competition in the marketplace *for the ultimate benefit of the consumer*" (emphasis added)). As the court held in dismissing a CPA claim in *Evergreen Moneysource Mortgage Co. v. Shappage* 167 Wn. Apr. 242, 274 P.3d 375 (2012) "conduct that is not

auctions as the jury found it was contractually entitled to do.

Whether those things happened is an issue of fact, but whether they were "unfair or deceptive' is a question of law." *Panag v. Farmers Ins.*Co. of Wash., 166 Wn.2d 27, 47, 204 P.3d 885 (2009) (citation omitted); see also Lyons v. U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n, 181 Wn.2d 775, 786, 336 P.3d 1142 (2014) ("Whether undisputed conduct is unfair or deceptive is a question of law, not a question of fact."). That is, the trial court here "assumed" Spokeo proved the factual predicate of its claim (CP 12270).

Other than a per se violation of a statute (which Spokeo did not and does not claim), conduct can be unfair or deceptive under the CPA if it has "the capacity to deceive substantial portions of the public" or is "unfair" "in violation of [the] public interest." *Klem*, 176 Wn.2d at 787.

a. Not deceptive: Whitepages' actions did not have "the capacity to deceive a substantial portion of the public."

The jury decided that Whitepages did not deceive Spokeo. CP 9357. Nor was Whitepages' conduct "deceptive" under the CPA because it did not have "the capacity to deceive substantial portions of the public." *Klem*, 176 Wn.2d at 787. As the court held in *Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co. v. Whiteman Tire, Inc.*, 86 Wn. App. 732, 935 P.2d 628 (1997), deceptive acts that are directed at a small number of companies with contracts with the defendant "are [not] actionable":

Only acts that have the capacity to deceive *a substantial portion* of the public are actionable. Whiteman has not made such a showing here. Goodyear's conduct was not directed at the public. Its competition with dealers and the tactics it used to secure dealership expansions had no deceptive capacity affecting the public in general.

Id. at 744 (citation omitted); see also Micro Enhancement Int'l, Inc. v. Coopers & Lybrand, LLP, 110 Wn. App. 412, 438-39, 40 P.3d 1206 (2002) (contracts sent to nine clients). Multiple judges have dismissed CPA claims for this reason⁶ and the cases Spokeo cited for its argument otherwise are in accord.⁷

Only seven advertisers were actively bidding when Whitepages developed and tested Premium. Ex. 200, pp. 5, 11. Spokeo's claim that Whitepages engaged in deceptive conduct is based entirely on conduct aimed at some unspecified subset of this discrete group, not an act with

_

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